90356-5

FILED
Jun 09, 2014
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 71437-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

SHANE AUSTIN STACY,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

John A. Hays, No. 16654 Attorney for Appellant

1402 Broadway Suite 103 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 423-3084

A.	Identity of Petitioner
B.	Decision of the Court of Appeals4
C.	Issues Presented for Review
D.	Statement of the Case
E.	Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted
F.	Conclusion
G.	Appendix
	1. Instruction No. 18
	2. Defendant's Proposed Instruction
	3. RCW 9A.16.09023
H.	Affirmation of Service

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page				
Federal Cases				
Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 87 S.Ct. 1920, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019 (1967)				
State Cases				
Seattle v. Hill, 72 Wn.2d 786, 435 P.2d 692, 698 (1967)				
State v. Carter, 31 Wn.App. 572, 643 P.2d 916 (1982)				
State v. Cantabrana, 83 Wn.App. 204, 921 P.2d 572 (1996) 16				
State v. Corwin, 32 Wn.App. 493, 649 P.2d 119 (1982)				
State v. Hutsell, 120 Wn.2d 913, 845 P.2d 1325 (1993)				
State v. Mriglot, 88 Wn.2d 573, 564 P.2d 784 (1977)				
State v. Smith, 101 Wn.2d 36, 677 P.2d 100 (1984)				
Statutes and Court Rules				
RCW 9A.16.09017				
Other Authorities				
13b Washington Practice, § 3204, ¶ 1, Involuntary Intoxication				
LaFave & Scott, Substantive Criminal Law, § 4.10(f) (1986)				

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Shane Austin Stacy asks this court to accept review of the decision designated in Part B of this motion.

B. DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of each and every part of the published decision of the Court of Appeals affirming the Cowlitz County Superior Court judgment and sentence. A copy of the Court of Appeals decision is attached.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does a trial court's use of an instruction that fails to accurately define involuntary intoxication and the trial court's refusal to give a defendant's proposed instruction correctly defining involuntary intoxication deny that defendant a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At around 7:00 pm on February 24, 2012, the defendant Shane Austin Stacy went with his wife Mary Beth to a dinner and party at the Monticello Hotel in Longview hosted by the local chapter of the International Longshore and Warehouse Union (ILWU). RP 794. Although the defendant is not an ILWU member, his wife Mary Beth is. RP 792-793. Well over 200 union members, family and friends attended. RP 246-247. The Hotel had set up a bar in the ballroom for the guests at the party and allowed them to run bar tabs. *Id.* The defendant's bar tab showed that during the evening he purchased five beers and a number of mixed drinks. RP 795-796. According

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 4

to the defendant and a number of party guests, the defendant drank the five beers over the evening and provided the mixed drinks for his wife and friends. RP 212-218, 589-593, 599-603, 607-611, 795-796. A toxicologist later opined that given the defendant's weight, these beers would have put the defendant's blood-alcohol level at somewhere between .03% to .05% by around 11:00 pm, well below the legal limit for driving. RP 682-685.

At about 11:00 pm that evening, a member of the Longshore Women's Auxiliary by the name of Andrea Holde arrived at the hotel to help clean up after the party, which was then beginning to break up. RP 157-161. When she arrived, she spoke with a friend by the name of Karen Mitchell, who told her that during the evening some people had seen a Union member by the name of Mike Robinson kissing the defendant's wife Mary Beth. *Id.* Mr. Robinson's wife Heather is a friend of Ms Holde. RP 160. This information upset Ms Holde to the point that she decided to find the defendant's wife Mary Beth and speak to her about the situation. RP 160-161. Ms Holde walked into the ballroom, found the defendant's wife Mary Beth, confronted her with what she had heard, and then asked Mary Beth if she "liked being a home wrecking whore." *Id.* Ms Holde's friend Karen Mitchell was present during this confrontation. RP 212-218. The defendant's wife denied the allegations. RP 162-163, 214-216.

At this point, Andrea Holde walked out of the ballroom into an area in

front of the bathrooms leading to the front lobby, where she found the defendant. RP 162-163, 216-218. She then told him what she had heard about Mike Robinson and his wife kissing and asked the defendant if he and his wife Mary Beth "were swingers." *Id.* According to Andrea Holde, the defendant looked dumbfounded and said "what," to which Ms Holde responded "Is it OK for your wife to be making out with Mike Robinson?" *Id.* In response, the defendant walked over to his wife and spoke with her for about 30 seconds. *Id.* At this point the defendant turned, ran back over to Ms Holde, grabbed her with one hand by the throat, and started strangling her while yelling "Why are you lying, why are you lying?" RP 164-170, 218-223. Ms Holde first thought he was joking as did others in the immediate vicinity. RP 167-170. However, when she felt the defendant squeezing she realized that he was not joking. *Id.*

At this point, two union members by the names of Jimmy Meadows and Scott Mitchell grabbed the defendant and Ms Holde and tried to pull them apart with Mr. Meadows pulling the defendant from behind and Mr. Mitchell grabbing the defendant's hands. RP 192, 200-203, 232, 234-239. When Mr. Meadows was unable to pull the defendant away from Ms Holde, he put the defendant in a "sleeper" hold by putting his arm around the defendant's neck from behind and squeezing, thereby rendering the defendant unconscious. RP 204, 207, 210-211, 238-239. Mr. Mitchell was initially unable to get the

defendant's hands off Ms Holde's throat, but was successful after striking the defendant in the side a couple of times. RP 202-207. Others also grabbed at the defendant and Ms Holde, and the lot of them tumbled down into a heap on the floor with Ms Holde on the bottom. RP 169-170, 201-221. Mr. Mitchell then pulled Ms Holde out from the bottom of the pile and everyone got up except the defendant, who was unconscious, and two persons who were holding the defendant. RP 203-204, 210-211, 238-239.

After a short span of time the defendant started coming back to consciousness. RP 204-207, 424-427, 546-549. As he did, the first of many police officers arrived and tried to take the defendant into custody with the aide of the two holding him to the ground. RP 271-273. At the time, the defendant was flailing around, yelling obscenities and resisting to the point that the officer decided to grab the defendant by his legs while the other two persons continued to hold him. RP 274-278. When the officer took these actions, the defendant kicked the officer in the head. *Id.* Within a few minutes a second officer arrived and they were able to place the defendant in handcuffs. RP 279-284. The defendant struggled and yelled obscenities while they were doing so. *Id.* Within a short time a number of other officers arrived and assisted taking the defendant to the front porch of the hotel so aide workers could examine him. RP 279-284, 316-319.

A number of the officers at the scene noted that the defendant had the

odor of intoxicants about his person, that his eyes were bloodshot and watery, and that his speech was slurred, all signs they believed indicative of alcohol intoxication. RP 285-287, 315-316, 342-344, 422-425. However, a number of party attendees who had direct contact with the defendant during the evening and right before the event stated that the defendant did not have slurred speech, did not have bloodshot and watery eyes, and did not exhibit any indicators of alcohol intoxication. RP 589-593, 599-603, 607-611, 795-796. In fact, one such person was Shelly Porter. RP 770-788. She stated that around 10:45 or 11:00 pm she ran into the defendant and his wife Mary Beth and talked with them about the fact that Mike Robinson had kissed Mary Beth earlier in the evening. RP 775-778. She asked them if they were "OK" with what had happened and both said they were. *Id.* According to Ms Porter, the defendant's speech was not slurred, his eyes were not bloodshot and watery, he was not upset and he did not exhibit any indicators of alcohol intoxication. *Id.*

According to Ms Porter, a short while after having this conversation with the defendant and his wife Mary Beth she went out to the front porch with a friend to smoke a cigarette. RP 778-781. While doing so the defendant came out to speak to her. *Id.* Although it had only been 10 or 15 minutes since she had spoken with the defendant and his wife, the defendant's mood was completely changed and he was acting in a very odd manner. *Id.* First, he did

not appear to recognize her. *Id.* Second, he called her by the name of "Michelle." *Id.* Third, he started making nonsensical allegations about her "talking" about his wife. *Id.* Fourth, according to Ms Porter, he simply looked "crazy." *Id.* The incident with Ms Holde occurred just before the defendant returned inside the hotel and spoke with Ms Holde. *Id.*

Once the police got the defendant outside, the ambulance personnel examined him and recommended that the officers take the defendant to the Emergency Room to get him medically cleared before taking him to jail given the fact that he had been unconscious. RP 316-319. One of the officers then put the defendant into a patrol vehicle and took him to the local hospital. RP 405-408. Once at the hospital, a security guard came out to help the officer place the defendant into a wheelchair, which was standard procedure with arrestees who are at the hospital to be medically cleared for booking into jail. RP 411-414, 449-451. When the defendant did not respond to the officer's order to get out of the vehicle, both the police officer and the security guard reached in and pulled the defendant out. *Id.* While pushing the defendant into the building, he purposely put his feet on the ground to try to stop the wheelchair. *Id.*

Once inside the hospital, the officer and security guard lifted the defendant up onto an examining table in a "secure" ER room. RP 451-453. When a nurse came in to try to take his vital signs the defendant became very

agitated and started yelling "Are you Christians" and "You are going to go to hell," along with other odd religious references. RP 413-415, 454-458. At one point the hospital security guard tried to help restrain the defendant as a nurse tried to take his blood pressure. *Id.* The defendant responded by kicking the security guard in the face and trying to kick at the officer and others in the room. RP 454-458. The officer and security guards along with a second officer who had arrived then put the defendant in four point restraints. RP 343, 456, 473. Eventually a doctor came in, examined the defendant for a couple of minutes, and released him for booking into jail. RP 457, 464. At no point did either a police officer or hospital worker ask the defendant for a breath or fluid sample in order to test for either his alcohol level or the presence of any drugs. RP 285, 463-464, 483-487.

Once the defendant was medically cleared the officer and security guards placed him back in a wheelchair and put him back into a patrol vehicle. RP 347-348. By this time the defendant appeared cooperative. RP 320-322. According to the officers at the hospital and one of the security guards the defendant's speech was slurred, his eyes were watery and bloodshot, his movement was slow, and he appeared intoxicated. RP 320-322, 420-421, 454-458, 474-475. Once at the jail, the defendant again became combative and confrontational to the point that he threatened one of the jail officers. RP 330-333, 424-426. After booking they put him in a restraint chair and placed

him in a holding cell. RP 797-798. The jail officers later let him out of the restraint chair. *Id.* At some point after being let out of the restraint chair one of the police officers who had earlier been at the hotel returned to the jail on an unrelated matter. RP 400-402. As he walked by the defendant's holding cell, the defendant walked up to the door and asked the officer what had happened and why he was in the jail. *Id.* He also stated that he had no memory of what had happened to put him in the jail. *Id.* At the trial that later occurred in this case, the court refused to allow the defense to elicit the defendant's statement to the officer that he had no memory of what had happened. *Id.*

Procedural History

By information filed February 28, 2012, the Cowlitz County Prosecutor charged Defendant Shane Stacy with one count of second degree assault against Andrea Holde, one count of third degree assault against Officer Tim Deisher, and one count of fourth degree assault against hospital security officer Kyle Rousch. CP 1-2. Following arraignment the defendant endorsed defenses of both voluntary intoxication as well as involuntary intoxication. RP 1, 13¹. At trial, the state called 17 witnesses, including Andrea Holde, Scott Mitchell, Karen Mitchell, Jimmy Meadows, the officer the defendant

¹The record on appeal includes seven volumes of continuously numbered verbatim reports of a number of pretrial hearing, the jury trial and sentencing. They are referred to herein as "RP [page #]."

kicked while at the hotel and the security officer the defendant kicked at the hospital. RP 157-575. The defense then called 12 witnesses, including Shelly Porter, a forensics scientist, a pharmacist, the defendant, and a number of witnesses to testify concerning the defendant's reputation for peacefulness in the community and his physical state at the hotel. RP 589-828.

Both the state and the defendant's witnesses testified to the facts set out in the preceding factual history. See Factual History. In addition, the defendant testified that (1) he was not intoxicated that evening, having drank five beers over a four hour period, (2) that he did not use any non-prescribed drugs at all let alone that evening, (3) that he had no memory of what happened for the period of time from just before his assault on Andrea Holde to when he woke up in the jail strapped to a restraint chair, and (4) that he believes someone slipped him some type of drug that caused him to assault Ms Holde, the police officer and the hospital security guard. RP 795-814. His belief that someone had surreptitiously given him some type of drug was supported by both the forensic scientist and the pharmacist he called as witnesses. RP 656-719, 720-769. Both opined that under all of the facts of the case, including the descriptions of all of the state and defendant's witnesses, along with the statements of the defendant, his assaultive conduct, his high blood pressure at the hospital, were best explained as having been caused by the defendant's ingestion of some type of central nervous system

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 12

stimulant such as methamphetamine, amphetamine, MDMA, cocaine or PCP. RP 665-669, 671-681, 723-727.

Following the close of the defendant's case, the court instructed the jury with the defense objecting to the trial court's decision to give Instruction No. 18 setting out the defense of involuntary intoxication and the failure to give the defendant's proposed definition of this term. RP 835-836. Instruction No. 18 stated as follows:

Instruction No. 18

Involuntary Intoxication is a defense to a charge of Assault if:

- (a) The defendant was given alcohol or drugs by force or fraud; and
- (b) The alcohol or drugs prevented the defendant from forming the intent to assault.

The defendant has the burden of proving this defense by a preponderance of the evidence. Preponderance of the evidence means that you must be persuaded, considering all the evidence in the case, that it is more probably true than not true. If you find that the defendant has established this defense, it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty as to a specific charge. Because a separate crime is charged in each count, you must decide each count separately. Your verdict on one count should not control your verdict on any other count.

CP 117.

The defendant's proposed instruction defining involuntary intoxication stated as follows:

Involuntary intoxication is a defense to the crime charged. "Involuntary intoxication" means intoxication brought about by force, or fraud, or some other means not within the control of the defendant.

Involuntary intoxication absolves the defendant of any criminal responsibility.

CP 72.

Specifically, the defense argued that the term "fraud" as used in the court's instruction was a term of art and not a word generally understood in the public and that the court should instruct the jury that it included any administration of a drug to the defendant without his knowledge. RP 835-836.

Following instruction and closing arguments, the jury retired for deliberation, sending out two questions later answered by the court.. RP 842-856, 856-918. Following further deliberations, the jury returned verdicts of guilty to each count. RP 920-922; CP 181-183. The court later sentenced the defendant within the standard range, after which the defendant filed timely notice of appeal. CP 185-197, 202; RP 928-937. By opinion filed May 12, 2013, and ordered published on June 2, 2014, Division I of the Court of Appeals affirmed the defendant's conviction. The defendant now seeks review.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The case at bar presents this court with three separate bases for review: (1) under RAP 13.4(b)(1) the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with decisions of this court, (2) under RAP 13.4(b)(3), this case presents a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington;

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 14

and (3) under RAP 13.4(b)(4), this case presents a question of substantial public interest that should be determined by this court. The following sets out the arguments in support of these claims.

Under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, the right to a fair trial includes the right to raise any defense supported by the law and facts. *Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14, 19, 87 S.Ct. 1920, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019 (1967); *State v. Smith*, 101 Wn.2d 36, 41, 677 P.2d 100 (1984). It also includes the right to have the court correctly define the law and correctly instruct the jury on that defense. *State v. Cantabrana*, 83 Wn.App. 204, 921 P.2d 572 (1996).

In the case at bar the defendant objected to the trial court's use of Instruction No. 18 and took exception to the trial court's refusal to give its proposed instruction defining involuntary intoxication. Instruction No. 18 stated as follows:

Instruction No. 18

Involuntary Intoxication is a defense to a charge of Assault if:

- (a) The defendant was given alcohol or drugs by force or fraud; and
- (b) The alcohol or drugs prevented the defendant from forming the intent to assault.

The defendant has the burden of proving this defense by a preponderance of the evidence. Preponderance of the evidence means that you must be persuaded, considering all the evidence in the case, that it is more probably true than not true. If you find that the defendant has established this defense, it will be your duty to return a verdict of not

guilty as to a specific charge. Because a separate crime is charged in each count, you must decide each count separately. Your verdict on one count should not control your verdict on any other count.

CP 177.

The state proposed this instruction and composed it in reliance upon State v. Hutsell, 120 Wn.2d 913, 845 P.2d 1325 (1993), State v. Carter, 31 Wn.App. 572, 643 P.2d 916 (1982) and State v. Corwin, 32 Wn.App. 493, 649 P.2d 119 (1982). See CP 97. In these cases the courts sought to present a definition for the term "involuntary intoxication" and explain how it constituted a defense. In Hutsell, surpa, the court examined the law on voluntary and involuntary intoxication by first reviewing RCW 9A.16.090. This statute states:

No act committed by a person while in a state of voluntary intoxication shall be deemed less criminal by reason of his or her condition, but whenever the actual existence of any particular mental state is a necessary element to constitute a particular species or degree of crime, the fact of his or her intoxication may be taken into consideration in determining such mental state.

RCW 9A.16.090.

In *Hutsell* the court noted that since the legislature limited the application of this statute to voluntary intoxication, it did not apply to cases in which the defense was claiming involuntary intoxication. *See Hutsell*, 120 Wn.2d at 920 (Involuntary intoxication may absolve the defendant of any criminal responsibility).

The defendant's proposed instruction defining involuntary intoxication

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 16

stated as follows:

Involuntary intoxication is a defense to the crime charged. "Involuntary intoxication" means intoxication brought about by force, or fraud, or some other means not within the control of the defendant. Involuntary intoxication absolves the defendant of any criminal responsibility.

CP 72.

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