RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Aug 07, 2014, 2:11 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 90356-5 Cowlitz Co. Cause NO. 12-1-00205-1

# SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### SHANE AUSTIN STACY,

Appellant/Petitioner.

# **RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

SUSAN I. BAUR
Prosecuting Attorney
AMIE MATUSKO/WSBA 31375
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE 312 SW FIRST KELSO, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080



##

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

Stacy walked straight towards Holde, repeatedly asked why she was lying, and grabbed Andrea Holde's neck. RP 166, 168, 188, 199, 219, 235. Holde at first thought he was joking because she didn't expect it, but then he slammed her to the wall. RP 166-67. Stacy held her against the

wall and strangled her, cutting off her airflow for a couple of seconds. RP 167-68, 177, 200. Other people came to her aid, attempting to pull Stacy off Holde. RP 169, 201-02. They ended up in a pile on the ground and Holde was at the bottom of the pile. RP 169. Both Scott Mitchell and Jimmy Meadows, other party goers, attempted to pry Stacy off Holde. RP 20, 2073. Meadows placed Stacy in a sleep hold, telling Stacy to let go and tightening it until rendering Stacy unconscious. RP 204, 207, 236-37, 256, 522. Mitchell pulled Holde out of the pile limp and handed her off to another person. RP 203.

The police were called and most of the party goers were mad at the level of police force. RP 257, 280, 313. Many of them were cursing and other fights began to break out. RP 257-58, 359. The police attempted to control the situation involving Stacy. When Stacy regained consciousness, he first had a blank stare, then becomes angry, wondering what was going on and screaming. RP 259, 522, 545. Officer Deisher was first on the scene. RP 272. When he arrived, Stacy was conscious with a couple of guys holding him down. RP 272. Officer Deisher noted Stacy had bloodshot and watery eyes and was yelling and cursing with slurred speech. RP 272-73. Officer Deisher also noted an abrasion on Stacy's head. RP 273. Officer Deisher did not detect any signs of drug usage in Stacy based upon his training and experience. RP 281.

Officer Deisher identified himself as police and tried to get Stacy to calm down, but the Defendant looked at Deisher, appeared to get more agitated, and said "Fuck you." RP 274-75, 295. He was also struggling against those people holding him. RP 259, 274, 276. Deisher bent to grab Stacy's legs and Stacy reared back and intentionally kicked Deisher in the face. RP 277-78. Officer Huycke arrived and assisted in getting Stacy handcuffed. RP 279. Stacy calmed a little bit, but was still yelling and agitated. RP 279-80. Officer Huycke believed Stacy was under the influence of alcohol and noted he was very agitated, excited, smelled strongly of alcohol, and had slurred speech. RP 315. Officer Headly who was also assisting with the detention of Stacy noticed the odor of alcohol and slurred speech. RP 342.

The police escorted Stacy from the hotel to be seen by the ambulance for the alcohol and unconsciousness. RP 205, 280-81. Scott Mitchell saw Stacy outside and described Stacy as looking out of it. RP 205. During the escort and when he was outside with the police, Stacy was uncooperative, not wanting to walk in the direction of the escort, aggressive, yelling, and saying everybody was going to hell. RP 222, 317, 406. The ambulance medics checked out the Defendant and did not feel it necessary to transport via ambulance, but that Defendant needed treatment for his bleeding head. RP 290, 318-19, 342, 407. The Defendant was thus

transported to the hospital by Officer Rocky Epperson to be medically clear in a police vehicle. RP 297-99, 318-20, 408.

Upon arriving at the hospital, the Defendant was uncooperative in getting out of the police vehicle. RP 412-13, 451, 495. He also stomped his feet down trying to prevent being wheeled into the hospital. RP 413-14, 452, 495. When he was inside the hospital, Stacy did not want to identify himself. RP 497. One of the security guards, Mike Derry, who as helping with Mr. Stacy, was actually an acquaintance of Stacy outside of the hospital context. RP 415, 493, 503-04. He was trying to calm Stacy and explain to him to allow medical staff to do their job. RP 415. Derry asked Stacy where Mary Beth was. RP 497. Stacy answered that his wife was fine, recognized who Mike was and called him by name, saying Mike knew him. RP 497-98. Stacy became highly agitated when the hospital wanted to remove his cross necklace to take his blood pressure. RP 414, 454, 498-99. However, Stacy would try to jerk away (even though in handcuffs) when the staff tried to take his blood pressure. RP 415, 454, 499. Hospital security was trying to get him to be compliant, when Stacy laid back, looked at the other security guard, Mr. Roush, and deliberately kicked Mr. Roush in the face with one leg. RP 415-16, 454-56, 499. Officer Epperson had to restrain Stacy's legs when he tried to kick out again. RP 417. Afterwards, even though restrained by multiple people and placed in four-point restraints, Stacy kept yelling, asking people if they were Christians and saying they were going to hell. RP 343-44, 414, 456. Epperson then punched and kneed Stacy to try to get compliance. RP 418. Afterwards, Stacy calmed down and allowed the staff to remove the necklace. RP 419. Officer Epperson spent about 45-50 minutes with Stacy and noted he was staggering, eyes were bloodshot, movements were slow and there was obvious odor of alcohol. RP 421. He opined Stacy was very intoxicated. RP 420. Officer Headly noted Stacy went through mood swings at the hospital and would go from yelling to calm to yelling again. RP 345. Mr. Roush also noted the strong odor of alcohol, his defiant and obstinate natures and felt Stacy was quite intoxicated. RP 457. Neither Officer Headley nor Epperson noticed anything in the defendant's behavior to suspect drug ingestion. RP 348, 421. Moreover, Mike Rogan, the registered nurse who treated Stacy at the hospital did not see anything in his behavior or vital signs indicating drug influence. RP 477.

After released from the hospital, Officer Huycke transported Stacy to the jail. RP 321-22. Huycke noted Stacy was now cooperative and calm and appeared to sway on his feet and stagger like he was under the influence of too much alcohol. RP 322. He still had red, watery eyes and slurred speech. RP 323. Based upon Officer Huycke's training and experience he did not see any indication Stacy was under the influence of

a substance other than alcohol. RP 323. Over the half an hour Huycke was with Stacy, Stacy had mood swings. RP 323. At times he was cooperative and others not. For instance, during the booking process, in response to an action of correctional staff, Stacy threatened to kill a correctional officer. RP 330-31.

Later, Officer Brian Price and Officer Chris Blanchard were at the jail on an unrelated matter. RP 362. As they were leaving, the Defendant came up to the window and asked why he was in jail. RP 362. The State objected to the Defendant's statement as hearsay during the testimony of Officer Blanchard. RP 362. The court sustained the objection. RP 362. However, after the witness' testimony concluded, the court sua sponte reversed its earlier ruling, finding the question was not offered for the truth of the matter, but for the fact of the question. RP 366. The court clarified it would not allow the Defendant's response that he didn't know anything about the assault. RP 366. The court invited defense counsel to call the witness back to the stand after the break. RP 366. Defense counsel did recall Officer Blanchard. RP 446. Blanchard then testified Stacy asked him "what he was doing there." RP 447.

The State next called Officer Brian Price. RP 392. In the midst of the State's questioning him of his part of the investigation that night, defense counsel asked to voir dire Officer Price. RP 396. Counsel brings

up Officer Price saw defendant in the jail later that night, but did not see him at the hotel. RP 396-97. Defense counsel then moves to strike all of Price's testimony that does not have to do with the Defendant. RP 397. The court denies the motion and Officer Price testified to his interactions with other state's witnesses. RP 398. Upon cross-examination, defense counsel inquired as to Price's contact with the Defendant later at the jail. RP 399. Officer Price said he and Blanchard were there for an unrelated case. Stacy was in a holding cell, looking out the cell window and asked them "what he was doing there, because he had no idea." RP 399-400. The State objected to the last part of the answer as hearsay. RP 399. The court sustained the objection as to the last comment about him not knowing why and instructed the jury to disregard. RP 399. In effort to clarify what the jury could consider, Defense counsel was allowed to ask Price what Stacy asked him. RP 400. Price testified "[Stacy] asked us why he was in jail." RP 400. Officer Price was not able to give an opinion as to Stacy's level of intoxication due to his limited interaction. RP 400. After several more questions, counsel ended cross-examination and informed the court Officer Price was excused from defense counsel's subpoena. RP 402.

The Defendant called a number of the defendant's co-workers and friends who were present at the party. These people testified the

Defendant was not intoxicated. RP 591-92, 602. They said he did not have slurred speech nor watery or bloodshot eyes, nor any trouble walking. RP 592, 594, 602, 611, 776-77. Michelle Brister-Williams testified she did not recognize the defendant when he was on the floor after regaining consciousness and afterwards he acted crazy. RP 612-13. Ms. Porter testified she was with the Defendant short before the assault. RP 778. She was outside talking to him and he called her Michelle, although her name is Shelly and believed she was talking about his wife, when she was talking about another woman. RP 780. She felt he was not making sense and was very focused on his wife. RP 781, 786.

The Defendant also presented testimony from Dr. Raymond Grimsbo and Nicholas Rosello in an attempt to bolster his involuntary intoxication defense. Dr. Grimsbo is a forensic scientist and the director of Intermoutain Forensic Laboratories in Portland, Oregon. RP 657. Dr. Grimsbo was hired to look for any drug that could explain Stacy's behavior. RP 664, 690. He admitted that without more information, specifically a toxicology report, he could not say with a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the Defendant was on any sort of substance that night. RP 669. He had to admit that his opinion was based upon speculation and he could only say the behavior "could be" from drug ingestion. RP 669, 691. He then opined the Defendant's behavior was

like caused by a stimulant, but could not say if it was a natural stimulant such as adrenaline or artificial such as methamphetamine or bath salts. RP 672-73. He could also not say how a specific drug would affect the defendant. RP 679-80, 693-94. Dr. Grimsbo did testify that even though alcohol is a central nervous system depressant, it can cause a drop in inhibitions, mood swings, and aggression. RP 680-81. Additionally that alcohol intoxication can cause stumbling, slurring of words, and odor of alcohol on the breath. RP 698. Dr. Grimsbo opined the defendant would be at a .03-.05 from five beers in four hours. RP 683-84. However this calculation would change depending on the number of drinks, how fast they were consumed, and if a person ate. RP 699. Grimbso could not say at what level Mr. Stacy would have to be to black out from alcohol. RP 687.

Dr. Grimsbo did say that methamphetamine and PCP and other related drugs are not associated with blackouts. RP 687. Additionally, Dr. Grimsbo admitted pupil dilation would be sign of drug ingestion, but the defendant did not exhibit this effect. RP 700. Grimsbo also indicated a hair shaft test was not done on the Defendant, even though that test could determine if a particular drug was ingested around the time of the offense. RP 703-04. However, more than 90 days after the event the sample wouldn't like tell much for a one time event. RP 704. Lastly, he admitted

there was no hard, physical evidence other than ingestion of alcohol in this case. RP 706.

Mr. Rosello was a hired pharmacist called to give his opinion the defendant's behavior was caused by methamphetamine ingestion. RP 725, 743. He testified opposite of Dr. Grismbo that methamphetamine can cause amnesia. PR 735. Upon cross-examination, Mr. Rosello testified he researched the "symptoms" of the defendant to see what drugs corresponded. RP 747. He also admitted that a person does not have to be a chronic alcoholic to have blackouts and someone who merely drinking too much on one occasion can black out. RP 756.

The Defendant testified he only consumed 5 beers that night at the party while eating. RP 795. However, on cross he admitted he only had a memory of drinking three beers and relied upon the bar tab to say he had five. RP 806. But he was adamant he did not consume more than five beers. RP 807. He said he had no memory of the assaults and only remembered waking up strapped to a chair in a room with a window. RP 797. It was the defendant's opinion that someone slipped something into his drink. RP 813. However, he could not say that anyone had a motive to do so that night. RP 813.

In closing argument, counsel argued under the prong of involuntary intoxication by fraud, that someone slipped the defendant a

drug and he did not voluntarily take it. RP 885, 893, 903. He did not opine any other method of ingestion of the substance by the defendant and no other suggestion was made during the trial. He also argued the defendant's reputation for peacefulness and honesty made it unlikely he would assault without another cause. RP 908-09.

#### Procedural History

At the close of the evidence, the court instructed the jury in Instruction number 18 as to involuntary intoxication. The instruction read:

Involuntary Intoxication is a defense to a charge of Assault if

- (a) The defendant was given alcohol or drugs by force or fraud; and
- (b) The alcohol or drugs prevented the defendant from forming the intent to assault.

The defendant has the burden of proving this defense by a preponderance of the evidence. Preponderance of the evidence means that you must be persuaded, considering all the evidence in the case, that it is more probably true than not true. If you find that the defendant has established this defense, it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty as to a specific charge. Because a separate crime is charged in each count, you must decide each count separately. Your verdict on one count should not control your verdict on any other count.

CP 177.

The defendant objected to instruction number 18 and proposed

Involuntary intoxication is a defense to the crimes charged. "Involuntary intoxication" means intoxication

brought about by force, or fraud, or some other means not within the control of the defendant. Involuntary intoxication absolves the defendant of any criminal responsibility."

CP 72. The Defendant argued the terms fraud and force were terms of art not commonly understood by the jury. RP 835-836.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

1. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT ACCEPT REVIEW OF THE CASE AS THE DEFENDANT FAILS PROVE ANY GROUNDS OF ACCEPTANCE UNDER RAP 13.4.(b).

The Defendant argues in his brief the decision of the court of appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Washington Supreme Court, presents a significant question of law under the Washington State Constitution, and is a matter of substantial public interested under RAP 13.4(b). Def. Brf at 14-15.

The Defendant never points to what part of the decision by the Court of Appeals is in conflict. Nor does he point to which decision it conflicts with. He does cite to *State v. Mriglot*, 88 Wn.2d 573, 564 P.2d 784 (1977), to illuminate the test for involuntary intoxication. Def. Brf at 18. However, the decision by the Court of Appeals also cites to *Mriglot* for the same test. *State v. Stacy*, 326 P.3d 136, 145 (Div 1, 2014). The Court of Appeals ruled while the trial court incorrectly instructed the jury

as to involuntary intoxication, the defendant's proposed instruction erroneously stated the law. *Id.* 146-47. Moreover, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to define the term fraud. Stacy does not argue the decision by Division One using an abuse of discretion standard is in conflict with a Supreme Court decision.

The Court of Appeals ruled the instruction given by the court actually lessened the defendant's burden to the jury and was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* The Defendant does not argue this decision is in conflict with a decision by the Washington Supreme Court.

The Defendant does argue the right to a fair trial under Article I, § 3 of the Washington Constitution, and the 14<sup>th</sup> Amendment Due Process clause of the United State's Constitution apply to his argument, but does not argue how the decision of the Court of Appeals ruling is in violation of these principles. Def. Brf at 15.

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